J.H. 11-4-92

Wage

I ED WHITE //

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COUR By Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES, o/b/o A

Petitioner/Plaintiff

Case 78,837 DCA No. 91-00536

VS .

WILLIAM PRIVETTE

Respondent/Defendant

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court.

of Appeal, Second District

State Of Florida

WILLIAM H. BRANCH, ESQUIRE WILLIAM H. BRANCH, ESQUIRE BOYD & BRANCH, P.A. 1407 Piedmont Drive East Tallahassee, Florida 32312 (904) 386-2171

and

CHRISS WALKER, ESQUIRE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES 1317 Winewood Boulevard Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 386-2171

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, State, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, will be referred to herein as HRS.

A.S. will be referred to herein as the mother.

Respondent, William Privette, will be referred to herein a5 the putative father.

Reference to the appendix will be as follows: A- followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The putative father was served with a Complaint to Determine Patemity that set forth allegations that the mother had engaged in sexual intercourse with the putative father which resulted in the birth of the minor child in question.

HRS filed a motion for an order requiring the parties submit to a human leukocyte antigen (HLA) test for the purpose of determining the patemity of the minor child.

For the purposes of the hearing on the motion for HLA the parties stipulated to the following facts:

- 1. The child for whom support is being sought in this case is 8
 - 2. The mother of 8. San is A San S
 - 3. Black was bom 1989.
- 4. A swap swap was married to J S S prior to 1989, and at the time the minor child was conceived.
- 5. A swap was married to Jack as of the date of the filing of the patemity action.
- 6. the birth certificate of Bearing State lists her

After hearing, the trial court entered an order requiring the parties to submit to the HLA blood test.

(A-5)

The putative father filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Second District Court of Appeal requesting that the

order entered by the trial court be quashed. The district court granted the petition and quashed the motion. Privette v. State, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, o/b/o S., 585 So.2d 365 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). In its opinion, the district court acknowledged that its decision conflicted with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in the case Pitcairn v. Vowell, 580 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

HRS filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the basis of the conflict between the <u>Privette</u> and the <u>Pitcairn</u> decisions.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A putative father does not have standing in a paternity action to raise the presumption of legitimacy as a defense where the petitioning mother was married at the time of the conception and birth of the minor child.

The presumption of legitimacy exists for the protection of the child. Sacks v. Sacks, 267 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1972). However, the Privette decision now allows a putative father to avoid his parental responsibilities by raising the presumption. This runs counter to the best interest of the child. As the court stated in Pitcairn v. Yowell, 580 So.2d 219, 222 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), "We see no worthwhile purpose to be served by allowing the presumption to be used in furthering the avoidance of parental responsibility."

The conflict between the <u>Privette</u> and <u>Pitcairn</u> decisions should be resolved in favor of the rule of law enunciated by <u>Pitcairn</u>; a putative father does not have standing to raise the presumption of legitimacy in avoidance of his parental responsibilities.

A petitioning mother should not be required to overcome the presumption of legitimacy before she is allowed to obtain an order directing the putative father submit to a scientific test to determine paternity. The <u>Privette</u> decision requires the married petitioning mother to dispel the legitimacy presumption

to being allowed to engage in paternity related discovery. This limitation runs counter to the law. the Second District Court based its ruling on the right of privacy provision of the Florida Constitution. Article I, Section 23, Fla. Const.

HRS contends that as long as the requirements of Rule 1.360, Fla.R.Civ.P are met, there is no constitutional prohibition to the ordering of the paternity blood test.

The United States Supreme Court has upheld as valid the non-consensual drawing of blood from a person in numerous cases.

Breithaupt v. Abram, 352 U.S. 432 (1957); Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966).

The right to privacy provision of the Florida Constitution was not intended to provide an absolute guarantee against all governmental intrusion into the private life of individuals. Stall v. State, 570 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1990). A state interest which is compelling overrides the privacy interest of the individual, if the public interest cannot be fulfilled by less drastic or intrusive means. Winfield v. Division of Par-Mutual Wagering, 477 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1985).

HRS contends that there is a compelling state interest behind requiring paternity tests; fixing the parentage of children and ensuring that children be maintained from the resources of their natural parents. Gammon v. Cobb, 335 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1976). The intrusion of the HLA test is minimal and is a highly reliable test. No evidence that is comparable to that

obtained by the HLA test is available by less intrusive means. Therefore, ordering an HLA blood test for the purpose of determining paternity is not a violation of a putative father's right of privacy under the Florida or federal constitutions. the fact that the petitioning mother is married should have no effect that this point.

ARGUMENT I

A PUTATIVE FATHER DOES NOT HAVE STANDING IN A PATERNITY ACTION TO RAISE THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY

The Second District Court of Appeal has ruled that a putative father has standing in a paternity action to raise the presumption of legitimacy. Privette v. State, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, o/b/o S., 585 So.2d 364 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). This is apparently the first reported case in Florida that makes the presumption available as a defense to the putative. HRS contends that the proper rule is that expressed by the First District Court of Appeal when it addressed this same issue.

In <u>Pitcairn</u> <u>v. Vowell</u>, **580** So.2d 219 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), the district court held "that a putative father does not have standing to raise the presumption of legitimacy in avoidance of the potential ordering of support for the child." Id, at page 222. The court went on to state that the line of case law discussing the issue of the legitimacy presumption has always addressed the right of one of the legal parents to raise the presumption when the other parent sought to establish that a third person was the actual biological father. In effect, the Second District Court has expanded the availability of the presumption beyond its historic role. This expansion runs contrary to the purpose of the presumption.

The courts of this State have created a strong presumption in favor of legitimacy to protect the interests of the child when the child was either born or conceived in wedlock. (Citations omitted.) This presumption as noted above was created to protect the welfare of the child.

Sacks v. Sacks, 267 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1972).

Until the <u>Privette</u> decision, the law did not grant standing for a putative father in a paternity action to employ a presumption created to protect a child, a child he claims not have fathered. This is particularly so when the presumption is employed to frustrate and prevent the natural mother's efforts to protect the child.

This Court further stated in Sacks, supra,

"This presumption . . . was created to protect the welfare of the child. To now utilize this same presumption to deny this child support is to destroy the very reason for its existence. The welfare of the child demands that we recognize and honor not the fiction, but the underlying purpose upon which the fiction was created.

Id at page 76.

The presumption's purposes of maintaining the integrity of the family and saving the child from the "embarrassment" of being bastardized are certainly laudatory. However, as this Court noted in Gammon v. Cobb, 335 So.2d 261, 265 (Fla. 1976), the real party in interest in a paternity action is the minor child. It is the child's best interest which are paramount. The interests of the child in having a "legitimate" father run deeper than concerns of integrity of the family unit of social or community

embarrassment. In a paternity action before it for review, the First District Court of Appeal addressed these important concerns in Locklear v. Sampson, 478 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Critical rights and consequences result from a valid judgment establishing paternity that affect not only the parties to the action, but also the minor child, that child's children, and other persons. • • We do not view this action as if it were simply a claim between private parties to enforce a monetary obligation because there are often substantial but then unknown collateral consequences that will obviously flow from any judgment establishing the fact of paternity. example, the fact of paternity should be reliably established because the minor child's parental medical history might become important or even critical in the medical treatment of the child and his or her Rights of inheritance are offspring. affected. In some instances even citizenship status may be affected by a determination of paternity. Undoubtedly there are other collateral consequences that might result from a judgment establishing paternity.

Id at page 1115.

In addition to entitling a child to financial support, paternity establishment is an essential element of a child's eligibility for many public and private benefits stemming from the father-child relationship. For instance, in cases in which the father has been employed and has contributed to Social Security, the child is entitled to receive benefits through the Social Security system until the age of eighteen in the event of the father's death, disability, or retirement during the child's minority.

If the father is a member of the Armed Forces, he can draw an extra allowance to provide a household for his dependents. The child is also eligible for commissary and post exchange privileges. Children are also entitled to military health care and insurance (CHAMPUS) benefits.

Non-marital children may be eligible for dependent benefits under workers' compensation if the father is injured on the job. Once paternity is established, the child may have the legal right to bring court action for damages if the father is injured or killed.

The medical concerns raised by the Locklear court justify further reflection. It is in the child's best medical interests to know the identity of his father. A significant number of diseases, birth defects, and other disorders are genetically transmitted to children by their parents. Many inherited disorders are not detectable at birth but have important implications later in life. A lack of knowledge may prevent appropriate medical care. In addition, many genetic disorders may be passed directly to the child's own offspring. Not knowing that the child is a potential carrier of a particular disorder prevents effective genetic counseling when the child becomes an adult and is ready to begin a family.

Advance warning of health risks could be lifesaving information in the event the child is ever faced with a medical crisis. Often the only indication for diagnosis and treatment of

a disorder is a medical history. However, early detection and prevention of diseases may be impossible without knowledge of family history. Where paternity is not established, children are deprived of valuable medical information; information that can lead to a healthier life for a child.

The <u>Privette</u> Court's concern with the presumption of legitimacy and allowing a putative father to raise the presumption as a defense, actually runs counter to the best interests of the minor child.

As illustrated in the Pitcairn decision, the presumption's purpose has historically been to enforce parental rights and responsibilities. See, for instance, T.D.D. v. M.D.D., 453 So.2d 856 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), which involved a situation where a presumed father used the presumption toward retaining his parental relationship where the mother sought to establish that someone else was the father. The following cases involved situations in which the mother attempted to use the presumption to prevent the husband from avoiding the responsibilities of fatherhood. Eldridge v. Eldridge, 16 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1944); M.A.F. v. G.L.K. 573 So.2d 862 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); M.P.S.H. v. <u>D. н.</u>, **516** So. 2d **1151** (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). In Dennis v. <u>Department</u> of <u>Health</u> <u>and</u> <u>Rehabilitative Services</u>, 566 So.2d **1374** (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), the presumption was used to assist the child to obtain support, rather than avoid the requirement of support.

Whereas the presumption has always been raised to ensure parental obligations are met, the <u>Privette</u> decision changes the nature of the presumption. According to the <u>Privette</u> decision, the presumption can now be raised as a means of avoiding or preventing the establishment of parental responsibilities. As stated in the <u>Pitcairn</u> decision, "We see no worthwhile purpose to be served by allowing the presumption to be used **in** furthering the avoidance of parental responsibility.' Id at page 222. The putative father's use of the presumption does not further the interests of the child, but is instead employed to frustrate and prevent the mother's efforts to protect her child.

The contrasting common law presumptions, i.e., that the father is the man to whom the mother was married on the date of conception or that the father is the man to whom the mother is married on the date of birth, were promulgated to protect the child from the shame of illegitimacy and are not determinative of paternity, which is the issue here... the mother identifies Hamilton as the father, and if she is willing to expose her child to embarrassment resulting from confusion as to the identify of her father, then we prefer to accept the mother's word..."

Hamilton v. Liberty National Life Insurance Company, 207 So.2d
472, 475 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968).

The <u>Privette</u> decision wauld require every married female petitioner in a paternity action to involve in litigation, as a party or witness, her husband, regardless of whether she in good faith believed he was not the natural father. It could result in a miscarriage of justice in instances where the husband has

 abandoned the marriage and is unavailable to the wife for blood testing.

In <u>White v. Francis</u>, 522 So.2d **946**, **948** (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1988), the district court stated, "Neither a presumption of legitimacy based on marital status, nor the circumstances that a party has identified more than one putative father by either a serial or single complaint, precludes trial of a paternity action under the statutes invoked by appellants." **The** rule of law set forth by the <u>Privette</u> decision would preclude the paternity trial if the husband **died** or has abandoned the family. This runs contrary to the purpose of the presumption being the protection of the child. The <u>Privette</u> decision instead benefits and protects the putative father.

The conflict between the <u>Privette</u> and <u>Pitcairn</u> decisions on the issue of standing should be resolved in favor of adopting the holding and reasoning of <u>Pitcairn</u>. HRS contends that the <u>Pitcairn</u> holding that the putative father: does not have standing to raise the presumption of legitimacy to avoid the establishment of parental responsibilities furthers the best interests of the child and the social policies underlying paternity actions and the presumption of legitimacy, The <u>Privette</u> decision should be reversed.

ARGUMENT II

A PETITIONING MOTHER IS NOT REQUIRED TO OVERCOME THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY IN A PATERNITY ACTION BEFORE A DISCOVERY ORDER CAN BE ENTERED DIRECTING THE PUTATIVE FATHER TO SUBMIT TO A SCIENTIFIC TEST TO DETERMINE PATERNITY.

In addition to its holding that a putative father has standing to raise the presumption of legitimacy in a paternity action, the <u>Privette</u> decision holds that the mother must dispel the presumption before an order can be entered requiring the putative father to submit to a a paternity **test**. Obviously, if the putative father does not have standing to raise the presumption of legitimacy, the mother should not be required to rebut the presumption prior to obtaining an order to compel submission to a paternity test, HRS further contends that even if this Court should determine the putative father does have standing to raise the presumption, the <u>Privette</u> requirement placed on the mother to dispel the presumption prior to engaging in paternity related discovery should be rejected.

Other than the <u>Privette</u> decision, there is no established principle of law which requires a mother to disprove her husband is the father of the child in question in order to discover a putative father's blood sample. The <u>Privette</u> opinion does not cite any statutory authority or case law in support of this new principle of law. Instead, <u>Privette</u> states that Section 742.12, Florida Statutes (1989), is not dispositive when the putative

father bases his objection to the paternity **test** on the right to privacy guarantee at Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution. HRS contends the privacy guarantee does not bar physical examinations for the purposes of determining paternity.

A married mother is not prohibited as a matter of law from prosecuting a paternity action against a man other than her husband. Gammon v. Cobb, 335 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1976); Herout v. Lawrence, 423 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

The presumption of legitimacy is a rebuttable presumption. Eldridge v. Eldridge, 153 Fla. 873, 16 So.2d 173 (1944). It must be overcome by clear and satisfactory evidence. In Re Braxton's Estate, 425 So.2d 23 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). Since a married female is not prohibited from bringing the paternity action, the issue is really whether the burden of proof sufficient to rebut the presumption can be carried.

There is no statutory requirement or case law which mandates that the husband be joined in paternity actions. The fact that the husband has not been joined as a party goes to the issue of proof, not the right to maintain the paternity action and compel the putative father to submit to a paternity test.

The taking of an HLA test is ordinarily a proper **aspect** of discovery in a paternity action. <u>Nostrand</u> <u>v.</u> <u>Olivieri</u>, **427** so.2d **374** (Fla. **2d** DCA 1983).

The purpose of modern discovery is to assist the administration of justice, to aid a party in preparing and presenting his case. • • to advance the function of a trial in ascertaining the truth, and to accelerate the disposition of suits...

In essence, then, a party is permitted to attempt to discover those matters relevant to the subject matter of the pending action...

Southern Mill Creek Products Co., Inc. v. Delta Chemical Company, 203 So.2d 53, 55 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967).

The relevance of the HLA blood test in paternity cases is well recognized. Nostrand, supra; Holliman v. Green, 439 so.2d 955 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983; Carlyon v. Weeks, 387 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); Simons v. Jorq, 384 So.2d 1362 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). If the paternity of a child is placed directly in issue, the blood type of the putative father become3 a proper subject of discovery, and the HLA blood test a proper means of discovery. As previously discussed in Argument I of this brief, serious consequences may flow from a determination of paternity, and the HLA blood test is a useful, if not necessary, discovery tool in paternity actions. Locklear v. Sampson, 478 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Section 742.12, Florida Statutes (1991), mandates the taking of a paternity determination test. The procedure for compelling a party to submit to a physical examination such as an HLA blood test is set forth in Rule 1.360, Fla.R.Civ.P. the essential requirements of law which must be met before a party can be

subjected to a compulsory HLA blood test are set forth in the rule, which provides in part:

(1) A party may request any other party to submit to, or to produce a person in his custody or legal control for, examination by a qualified expert when the condition that is the subject of the requested examination is in controversy.

. . .

- (B) In cases when the condition in controversy is not physical, including domestic relations and bastardy cases when the blood group is in issue, a party may move for an examination by a qualified expert as in subdivision (1).
- (2) An examination under this rule is authorized only when the party submitting the request has good cause for the examination, At any hearing the party submitting the request shall have the burden of showing good cause.

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