0/A 11-4-92

A'

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SIDJ. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES, o/b/o A

Petitianer,

vs.

Case No. 78,837 2nd DCA No. 97-00536

WILLIAM PRIVETTE,

Respondent.

ONDENT'S ANSWER EF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal,
Second District, State of Florida

DANIEL A. DAVID

First Florida Bank Building

1800 Second Street Suite 918

Sarasota, Florida 34236

(813) 365-3300

Florida Bar # 0650412

Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District **below** employed the presumption of legitimacy in the way that it has always been utilized in this state - to further the best interests of the child. The opinion of the Second District explicitly takes into account the best interests of the child.

Attacking this, HRS turns the concept of standing on its head by claiming in effect that it, a government agency, has standing to overcome the presumption of legitimacy. HRS is the true party in interest in this litigation because only HRS stands to make a monetary recovery by possibly shifting the burden of support. The level of support to the child will be unaffected by the decision in this case.

HRS should not be able to abrogate onto itself standing to attack the legitimacy of the child. Before the child can be delegitimized, the best interests of the child must be considered.

HRS' sole concern in this case is a monetary one. It does not take into account the best interests of the child.

* * * *

Before a citizen's right to privacy guaranteed by Article I, Section 23 can be pierced, HRS must demonstrate a compelling state interest. HRS has provided no authority for the proposition that expenditure of state monies in and of itself constitutes a compelling state interest. The determination of whether a state interest is compelling, vel non, must be a judicial, rather than a legislative determination. Else, the legislature could, on an

appropriations bill, render any provision of the constitution a nullity if the standard is adopted that expenditure of state funds on a particular subject matter makes the state interest compelling.

Moreover, even **if** it is held that the expenditure of state funds and/or the state policy that children be supported by their parents rather than the taxpayers **is** a compelling state interest the HRS action in this **case** must **fall** nonetheless, because HRS does not utilize the least intrusive means of furthering its goal.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRUE ISSUE IS THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD AND INQUIRY MUST BE FOCUSED ON WHETHER A GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY HAS STANDING TO OVERTURN THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY.

By clever labeling, HRS attempts to color the issues involved and determine the outcome of this case. In its Preliminary Statement, HRS announces: "Respondent, William Privette, will be referred to herein as the putative father." However, in its efforts to tag the Respondent as the father, WRS lets slip a profound truth in its preliminary statement. HRS is the petitioner. HRS is the true party here. HRS is the prime, indeed, the only mover behind this action. HRS is the one pursuing this action, not A. S., the mother.

A. S. has no interest in this case. The case was instigated by HRS. HRS instituted this action with one of its preprinted forms, churned out in vast multitudes, typed in A.

S.'s name, and presented it to her for her signature to get the ball ralling.

HRS filed the case, HRS brought the case forward at the trial court level, HRS opposed the writ of certiorari at the Second DCA,

^{&#}x27;Petitioner's Initial Brief, Preliminary Statement, p. vi. As noted by S.I. Hayakawa, "As soon as the process of classification is completed, our attitudes and our conduct are to a considerable degree determined. We hang the murderer, we lock up the insane man, we free the victim of circumstances, we pin a medal on the hero." Language In Thought and Action, 4th ed., Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, 1978, p. 203. Here of course, we would force "the putative father" to take a blood test.

and when the Second DCA found its position wanting, HRS pursued the matter to this court. Untold thousands in taxpayer funds have been expended by HRS in this relentless effort to tag William Privette with paternity. All, we are tald, in an effort to protect the public treasury.

The only reason this case is being appealed, indeed, the only reason that it was ever filed in the first place, is because HRS furnished child support money to A S for her minor child, B. S.. HRS has no interest in A. S. and B. S.

other than using them $a\,s$ a vehicle to recover monies expended. HRS $p\,aid$ these monies, and is now attempting: to recoup them. Nothing more and nothing less.

Thus, HRS' fixated financial focus induces a hollow ring to all of its arguments in its brief. The fact is that whether or not William Privette is ultimately compelled to submit to a Human Lerbocyte Antigen test as a result of this court's decision, Briana Sease will still live with her mother and A will still receive money far her support, assuming she qualifies under HRS guidelines.

HRS attempts to overcome the presumption of legitimacy here. It is the true party in interest. "The real party in interest is the person who actually has the interest in the outcome of the action; the person who will lose or gain from its outcome."²

As Trawick further explicated,

The term parties in civil procedure refers to

Trawick, Fla. Prac. and Proc. Section 4-3 (1991 ed.)

the persons who are litigants in an action. The determination of who may or who must be made under principles i s substantive law. Most other matters relating to parties are procedural. The reason why the determination of who may or who must be parties is substantive results from litigation itself. Each type of proceeding seeks one or more kinds of relief. Only those persons who have an interest in obtaining the relief can be plaintiffs or petitioners. Only those persons against whom relief is properly sought defendants. The constitution says it requiring due process. Thus the nature of the cause of action will determine who must or may be a party to the action. (emphasis added)

It would further seem that historically, the real party in interest is determined by who stands to make a money recovery.⁵

The State, its agencies and political subdivisions may be parties. Trawick, <u>Fla. Prac. and Proc.</u>, Section **4-2 (1991** ed.)

Id. at Section 4-1. This raises two interesting issues. It would seem that J. S. is an indispensable party to this action. Yet, the record is devoid of any indication that HRS even notified him of this action. HRS certainly did not join him. Secondly, though the HRS claims that the purpose of this action is to benefit B. S., it brought the action on behalf of A. S., the mother. Thus, the question is whether the rights of B. S. are properly before the Court. HRS claims to be furthering the rights of B. S., but HRS explicitly brought this action an behalf of her mother, not her.

⁵ Id. at Section 4-3, n.1: Harris vs. Smith, 150 Fla. 125, 7 So.2d 343 (1942) when the real party in interest was the assigner of a chose in action; Whitfield vs. Webb, 100 Fla. 1619, 131 So. 786 (1911) when he was the indorsee of a promissory note; Kahn vs. American Surety Co. of New York. 120 Fla. 50, 162 So. 335 (1935) when he was the assignee of a bond; Sammis vs. Wrightman, 31 Fla. 45, 12 So. 536 (1893) when he was the assignee of a judgement; Johnson vs. Florida Brewing Co.. 90 Fla. 148, 105 So. 319 (1925) when he was the bailee of chattels; Maxwell vs. Southern American Fire Insurance Co., 235 So.2d 768 (3 DCA 1970) when he was a third party beneficiary on a contract; Alford vs. Barnett National Bank of Jacksonville. 137 Fla. 564, 188 So. 322 (1939) when he was a pledgee with right of possession; Bastida vs. Batchelor, 418 So.2d 297 (3 DCA 1982) when he was the conditional seller of stock[.]

The only possible party here who stands to make any type of monetary recovery is HRS. HRS will still provide the same level of support to B. S. under these circumstances.

It is HRS that is attempting to bastardize B. S. in an effort to recoup monies advanced to her mother, not William Privette. HRS waxes effusive and fulsame in its brief over all sorts of unspecified but darkly hinted at medical conditions on the part of the child that can only be alleviated, in HRS' view, with an HLA test in this case.

The mother of the child advances no such claim. Indeed, her disinterest is such that she never provided any testimony at the original hearing. No concern over family lineage for medical purposes. No interest over whether the child would qualify for some sort of federal benefits. Not word one. Indeed, HRS did not even call her as a witness.

Indeed, none of HRS' now claimed concerns over parentage for medical reasons, federal benefits, etc. were ever raised as grounds initially for compelling the HLA test; nor were they addressed at the Second DCA. HRS now attempts to interject these concerns, in a parade of the horribles, as a gloss to legitimize its dogged effort to illegitimize B. S..

Let us reduce all of the rhetoric, and focus on the true state of affairs. HRS paid A support money for B. S., and HRS now wants to recoup that money. That is what this case is

 $^{^{\}textbf{f}}$ In terms of the record, HRS never introduced any evidence to substantiate this argument.

about.

Indeed, HRS' determined efforts to bastardize the child raises into question whether HRS is acting in furtherance of the best interest of the child. HRS' efforts to, in effect, render her an illegitimate child can hardly be deemed to be in her best interests. It is an interesting question whether a Guardian Ad Litem should have been appointed to protect her interests from her putative benefactor, given HRS' efforts to bastardize her. The standard of the child raises interest of the child raises interest of the best interests.

Because of HRS' determined efforts to bastardize this child, with the attendant social opprobrium that would be heaped upon her as a consequence, it is clear that HRS' true interest is the recovery of money expended, not the best interest of the child.

When one realizes that the sole, actual, and overriding interest of HRS in this case is to collect money, it explains the HRS' perversion of the standing argument in this case. William Privette has no desire to bastardize the child; that is what HRS is attempting to do.

William Privette does not question her parentage, he raises no claim as to her legitimacy, he does not contest the presumption of ${\bf the}$ law that her father is J S . It is HRS that attacks her legitimacy and attempts to illegitimize the child, Where is ${\bf HRS'}$

F.R.Civ.P. 1.210(b) provides in pertinent part: "The court shall appoint a guardian ad litem for an infant or incompetent person not otherwise represented in an action or shall make such other order as it deems proper for the protection of the infant or incompetent person." It would seem that the infant, B. S. is not represented in this action because HRS brings it on behalf of A.S..

standing to question the legitimacy of this child? HRS is the petitioner, HRS brought the initial action, HRS is the true party in interest here -- what stake or interest does it have to ask that this child be bastardized? Obviously, the mother has no desire to see her **baby** bastardized. She compliantly signed the pre-printed forms when presented to her by HRS mandarins, but stood mute when the time came to present testimony in court in support of this action. And yet, HRS is here, claiming that it is acting in the best interest of this child. Somehow, in the logic of HRS, the bastardization of this child is in her best interests. It is certainly in the best interests of HRS, because then a possible roadblock would be removed in its efforts to collect money, bastardization would rebound to the benefit of the child in this circumstance is more difficult to discern, however.

Not only does HRS seek to compel William Privette to submit to an invasive medical procedure, concomitantly, it seeks to illegitimize a child in its efforts to collect money. This is all done under a claim of acting the child's best interest. Likewise, the staggering expenditure of taxpayer funds in this case is justified as an exercise of protecting the state treasury.

The purpose of the strong presumption of legitimacy when a child is either born or conceived in wedlock is to protect the interest and welfare of the child. "The child's welfare is paramount. Too often this is forgotten." Blitch vs. Blitch, 341 So.2d 251, 252 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1976) [citing to Sacks vs. Sacks, 267 So.2d 73, 75 (Fla. 1972)].

Given the fact that the true party in interest here is HRS, its standing to delegitimize the child must be questioned.

There is no indicia of any kind that the mother, A. S., made any demands, levied any claim, advanced any assertion that William Privette was the father of this child before HRS placed the preprinted forms before her for signature.

This action was instituted by HRS with the placing of the preprinted form before A. S., which she signed on August 28,

1990, more than 10 months after the birth of the child.(A-4) In
the intervening 10 months-plus, the record is devoid of anything
the mother said or did indicating any responsibility on the part of
William Privette toward this child. This time frame clearly
indicates that the mother of the child had and has no desire to
question the parentage of her child, or to bastardize her child.

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in this action is a sober and well reasoned one. Because of the paucity of evidence advanced by HRS, and because of the conflicts in the evidence,' the court implemented a balancing test. The result is fair, just, and appropriate. It recognizes the compelling issues involved, bastardization of the child and protection of William Privette's Constitutional right to privacy.

Before HRS can invade a citizen's right to privacy in the factual context in which this case was decided, the lower court held:

In our view a proper balance can be struck by

Including, but not limited to, the sworn complaint alleging William Privette as the father, contradicted by the official birth certificate wherein information was furnished under pain of criminal penalty for false information specifying that $J \cap S$ is the father.

requiring, before ordering HLA or similarly intrusive testing in a contested paternity action, a threshold showing that the complaint is brought in good faith and is likely to be supported by reliable evidence. 585 So.2d 364, 366.

To protect the "too often **forgotten**" interest in maintaining the child's legitimacy, the lower court further held,

When, as in the present case, the issue is complicated by the effect of the presumption of legitimacy, the trial court should also determine whether the child's interests will be adversely affected $\mathbf{b}\mathbf{y}$ allowing a party to circumvent that presumption. Id.

When, as here, for 10 months after the birth of the child the mother makes no claim that William Privette is the father, when nothing is done to question the parentage of the child until the government instigates the action, where the child will be possibly bastardized as a result of the government's actions, where the child has the same surname as the husband of the mother, where the child was conceived and born during the marriage between the mother and the husband, where the official state vital statistic, the birth certificate, specifies that the husband of the wife, J S , is the father, where William Privette has not acknowledged the child as his own, nor paid any support, nor evinced any other indicia of fatherhood, then in a case such as this, some threshold showing is required before the government can invade a person's privacy rights.

In the factual framework of $t\,h\,i\,s$ case, the lower court's decision to require that a showing be made that the complaint $i\,s$

Sacks vs. Sacks, 267 So.2d 73, 75 (Fla. 1972).

brought in good faith and is likely to be supported by reliable evidence is both fair **and** just. The decision that a trial court should also consider whether bastardization of the child **is in** the child's best interest certainly is directed to the best interest of the child.

Why does HRS feel it inappropriate for it to have to meet the two-pronged threshold requirement fashioned by the court below? HRS has advanced no claim that it would be burdensome or impossible. Why does it contest the lower court's ruling that the child's interest in her continuing legitimacy be weighed by the trial court? Does HRS claim that this is not in the best interest of the child?

HRS is **in** effect claiming standing **in** an effort to illegitimize **B**. **S**. In Pitcairn vs. Vowell, **580** So.2d **219** (Fla. 1st **DCA**, 1991) **a** decision upon which HRS relies, the court noted the contention of the respondent,

Also, she says, petitioner's position, which requires respondent to overcome a presumption that was created to protect the welfare of the child, employs the presumption in a manner that frustrates and prevents the natural mother's efforts to protect her child. 580 So.2d at 220.

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